Akiyama Manufacturing

Serial Port Monitor and Analyzer Series Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII

Model: AKM-RSM-FM0

User's Manual

Version 1.3.0.0

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Precaution 3	-
Introduction 4	-
Detailed Analysis 5	-
Outline Analysis 6	-
Precautions 7	-
Operational Conditions 8	-
How to Start9	-
How to Operate 11	-
Open the Monitor Result File 11	-
Specify Option Setting 11	-
(1) Server Option 11	-
(2) Prefix Option 12	-
(3) Others Option 13	-
(4) [Default] Button 13	-
Execute the Protocol Analyzer 14	-
Other Function 17	-
Shutdown method 18	-
About the contents of the Analysis Result File 19	-
About the Header 20	-
About the Analysis Result 21	-
(1) Outline of the Analysis Result File Format 21	-
(2) Example of the Analysis Result of [Error!] 22	-
(3) Example of the Analysis Result of [Alert] 23	-
(4) Example of the Analysis Result of [Exception] 24	-
Appendix A: Message List for Analysis Result File 25	-
Error Message 25	-
Alert Message 27	-
Appendix B: Example of Analysis Result in each Function 28	-

Precaution

[Trademark]

- Modbus is a registered trademark of Schneider Electric, Inc.
- CANopen is a registered trademark of CAN in Automation.
- Windows is a registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and other countries.
- All other brand or product names are or may be trademarks or registered trademarks of, and are used to identify products or services of, their respective owners.

Caution:

- (1) You must not reprint all (or a part) of the contents of this manual without getting the permission of Akiyama Manufacturing.
- (2) The contents of this manual may be changed in the future without a notice.

Reference document:

MODBUS APPLICATION PROTOCOL SPECIFICATION V1.1b3

Introduction

The Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII (Model: AKM-RSM-FM0) is the tool which analyzes the Monitor Result data of the Serial Port Monitor and Analyzer (Model: AKM-RSM-100). The analysis result is outputted to the text file. From now on, " Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII (Model: AKM-RSM-FM0)" will be described as "Protocol Analyzer". And also, "Serial Port Monitor and Analyzer (Model: AKM-RSM-100)" will be described as "AKM-RSM-100".

Analyzed contents are based on V1.1b3 of Modbus.

The flow of the communications, the wrong point about the protocol, and so on will be confirmed visually by analyzing Monitor Result data.

🔯 Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII	– 🗆 🗙
<u>File Options H</u> elp	
Analysis Data Range Start Position (Event Number): From the Top Event End Position (Event Number): To the Bottom Even	t v it v
Direction Detection Method Automatic Detection Manual Setting 	
Analysis Target Servers All Servers 0-247	
Outline of Analysis Conditions:	
<	>
E	Execution

Screen image

The Protocol Analyzer is the Add-on function of the AKM-RSM-100.

AKM-RSM-100 Professional Edition is necessary to use this Protocol Analyzer. (Not available in Basic Edition and Standard Edition of AKM-RSM-100.)

The Protocol Analyzer has two analysis types of the "Detailed Analysis" and the "Outline Analysis".

Detailed Analysis

All data string is analyzed in detail. In addition, relations between the [Request] from the Client and the [Response] from the Server are confirmed.

Then, Alert is outputted when some problems are found.

[Normal] [Request] (0x00000000001) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)> :010100000001FD <cr><lf></lf></cr>
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 1 (0x01) Function Name : Read Coils
Starting Address: 0x0001, Quantity of Coils: 1 (0x0001)
< [Normal] [Response] (0x00000000013) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 1 (0x01) Function Name : Read Coils
Byte Count: 1 (0x01) Status : Following
(Request Event Number: 0x00000000001)
[Normal] [Request] (0x00000000021) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)> :010100130013D8 <cr><lf></lf></cr>
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 1 (0x01) Function Name : Read Coils
Starting Address: 0x0014, Quantity of Coils: 19 (0x0013)
< [Normal] [Response] (0x00000000032) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 1 (0x01) Function Name : Read Coils
Byte Count: 3 (0x03) Status : Following 0x0014:ON , 0x0015:OFF, 0x0016:ON , 0x0017:ON , 0x0018:OFF, 0x0019:OFF, 0x001A:ON , 0x001B:ON , 0x001C:ON , 0x001D:ON , 0x001E:OFF, 0x001F:ON , 0x0020:OFF, 0x0021:ON , 0x0022:ON , 0x0023:OFF, 0x0024:ON , 0x0025:OFF, 0x0026:ON (Request Event Number: 0x000000000021)
<

File output image (Detailed Analysis)

Outline Analysis

Only the Server Address and the Function Number are analyzed.

[Normal] [Request] (0x000000000000) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)
<pre>< [Normal] [Response] (0x00000000013) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)</pre>
` [Normal] [Request] (0x000000000021) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)
<pre>< [Normal] [Response] (0x00000000032) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)</pre>
` [Normal] [Request] (0x00000000044) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)

File output image (Outline Analysis)

Precautions

- The Protocol Analyzer can be started from [Tools] menu of the AKM-RSM-100 Professional Edition. (Not available in Basic Edition and Standard Edition of AKM-RSM-100.)
- (2) The Protocol Analyzer does the analysis based on the specification of the "Modbus Application Protocol Specification V1.1b3".
 A proper analysis result may not be able to get it in the case of the data string of the other version of Modbus.
- (3) When the [Request] from the Client and the [Response] from the Server is being mixed in the Monitor Result data, **a proper analysis result may not be able to get it**. (Especially, when [Request] and [Response] are only in either the Port 1 or the Port 2 in the RS-485 network of 2 wires through both.)
- (4) When there is the [Stop mark] in the Analysis Data Range, the Analysis is stopped with the [Stop mark].
- (5) The Protocol Analyzer is application software based on .NetFramework4. If you are using the AKM-RSM-100 of the Version 4 series, confirm that .NetFramework4 is in your PC. If .NetFramework4 is not in your PC, install it in advance before the Protocol Analyzer is started.
- (6) An Analysis Result File may become enormous volume corresponding to the volume of the Monitor Result data.

Therefore, output an Analysis Result File to the storage of NTFS.

Operational Conditions

- (1) Start Protocol Analyzer in accordance with "How to Start" which is described later from [Tools] menu of AKM-RSM-100.
- (2) The Protocol Analyzers can start multiple from AKM-RSM-100. However, be careful of the number of the starting because the memory resource of PC (Windows) is occupied corresponding to the number of the Protocol Analyzer which was started.
- (3) When the Protocol Analyzer was started, following contents are taken over from the setting of the AKM-RSM-100.
 - Top Event Number of Monitor Result data
 - · Current Cursor Position of Monitor Result data
 - · Bottom Event Number of Monitor Result data
 - · Date Format
 - · Display Condition of Tool Tip
- (4) When the AKM-RSM-100 Professional Edition is being used by the **User ID of the Trial edition**, **only 10 Protocol data string will be analyzed**. **Then, processing will be stopped**.
- (5) In this manual, each procedure and each screen display are being described based on Windows 10. In other OS, each procedure and each screen display are almost same as Windows 10.

How to Start

The Protocol Analyzer is the Add-on Program of the AKM-RSM-100.

Therefore, the Protocol Analyzer is started from the [Tools] menu of the AKM-RSM-100.

First, the Protocol Analyzer must be registered in advance in the [Tools] menu of the AKM-RSM-100.

When Protocol Analyzer is installed, "Add-on Menu Control" will be actuated. And, it will merge Protocol Analyzer to the [Tools] menu of the AKM-RSM-100. However, in the case of following, "Add-on Menu Control" will be not able to merge menu.

- $^{\cdot}$ When AKM-RSM-100 isn't being installed.
- · When 10 kinds of Add-on is registered to the menu already.

*Note: Data will be replaced when Add-on of same name was registered on the [Tools] menu.

In these cases, the menu of the Protocol Analyzer must be registered by using [Tools]-[Management of Add-on] on the AKM-RSM-100 by the manual operation. Contents of registration by the manual operation are the followings.

· Menu Name

· Execution File Name

- : Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII
- : [Install Folder] \ AKM-RSM-FM0.exe
- · CMD-line Argument : /MULTI <%datafile%>.aod
 - : AKM-RSM-FM0_<%date%>
- · Data File Name : AKM-RSM-FM0

*Note: Usually, the default setting of Install Folder is the following. [OS Drive]: \ Program Files (x86) \ Serial Port Monitor and Analyzer \ Add-on \AKM-RSM-FM0

From now on, various descriptions will be described under the assumption that the registration of the Add-on menu is completed. Start Protocol Analyzer as follows from AKM-RSM-100.

🔝 Seri	al Port	Мо	nito	or a	nd A	nal	yze	er -	[Re	efer	enc	e o	of Fi	le: I	File	Na	me	61	i i i i	80	eși,	61		-	-	6.	i i i	ent	i de	ier	нeй	ini i	lite	×
File S	Bearch	Op	otior	IS	Edit	t [Тоо	ols	н	elp																								
Display	ing File	Con	tent	5	1		Ħ	D	ispla	ay o	f Se	que	nce								-	+	1	•	7	0		A			目		19	a • 🧶 🕸
Even	ts	00	01	02	03	04	1000 3 1000 1 1000 1	Ir	nteri	im R	epo	rt of	f Cur	rent	t Mor	nitor			2	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	1A	1B	10	1D	1E -	1F	I	Connect O Direct Relay
00000000	00 <mark>SD</mark>	: ->	> SI	SG	4	0	83	Р	roto	col /	Anal	yzei	r for	Mod	dbus	ASC	ш	-	ł	lf	SG	SG	ID									_	^	
00000000	20 SD	: -2 :	> U4	05		ID 4	3	M	lana	igem	nent	of A	Add-	on					D	8	or	lf		-	U	_	0	_	0		U	5		Sneed Cignal Lines
	RD	t F	5 8	cr	If	04	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				1	0	1	0	1	0	3	С	D	б	-	Status
00000000	40 SD RD	с с Е	3 0	5	в	E	or	lf	ID 03	÷	0	1	0	1	0 () (0	0	7	D	0	2	7	cr	lf	ID 01	÷	0	1	0	1	F		O 6000ps SD Click on
00000000	60 SD RD	: : 4	A 4	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A /	4 6	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5		O 2400bps RS O this men
00000000	80 <mark>SD</mark> RD	с с. Е	5 4	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A /	4 5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5		9600bps ER 19200bps
00000000	A0 SD RD	: : : :	5 A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A #	4 5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5		O 38400bps CD 0 57600bps CD 0
00000000	CO SD RD	с с в	5 4	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A A	4 5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5	5	A	A	5		0 115200bps 0 230400bps
00000000	E0 SD	:			÷.	1			1	Ĵ.			j.	j.						Ĵ.				÷.					Ĵ.			1		O 460800bps
T	RD	י: t חח) 4 1 0 1	A 02	5 03	5 04 1	A 15 I	A 80	5 07 1	5 08 0	A N. R.	A IA f	5 18 0	5 C 01	A / D DE	4 6 5 DE	5 10	A	A 12	5 13	5 14	A 15	A 16	5 17	5 18	A 19	A 1A	5 1B	5 10	A 1D	A 1E 1	5 1F		O 921600bps O CHR.
				~					• • •																									
Trigge	er Ei	rror Sto	P	Γ	1em Mo	ory de		D	ata	ı bit	s	P	arit	y (•	St	op I	oits		Ро	rt S	etu	P					_		De	tect	ion		Rec. Mode Men. Long-run
) OI	N			X ING			7	bits Bits	5			ven dd one		0	1bi 2b	t its		Por	rt1 (rt2 (DTE DCE	:) E)	C		/ В	~	19	9200 9200	bps bps	8, N 8, N	N, 2 N, 2		Debugging OFF ON
Put the	curso	or to	o tł	ne e	vent	. wh	ich	n is	s ho	ped	to	di	spla	iy t	he (deta	ile	d i	nfo	rmat	ior	n. 1	her), F	res	is S	Shif	't i	key.			_	_	Clear

How to start: Click on [Tools]-[Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII] of Menu bar.

Or drop	dov Port M	wr	٦	C		nal		ic	on		of	To	DOI	b	ar,	, a	nc	l c	lic	:k	or	ן ו	Pr	ot	00	:ol	A	na	ily:	ze	r f	or	Mc	bd	bu	s A	SC	II]	.						
File Sea	rch File C	Optionte	ions		Edit	: ; ; []	Too	ols 1	He	elp @	9 1	# 3	為	🗈) (Э		-		:	-3	-	2	-			A		•	Ħ			⊒ - (¢	Prote	eol A	nalvze	er for	Mod	hus ASCII						
Events	SD: RD:	00 -> ->	01 30 04	02 SG 05	:	04	05 1	06 0	07 (1	0	09 (0	DA C O	0 0	C 0D 0 () 0E) 0	0F 1	10 F	11 D	12 cr	13 If	14 1 SG S 1D 1	5 1 3G 1 IF 0	6 17 D 1	7 18) 18) ·	1 1A	1B 1	10	1D 1	1E 1 0	1F 5	^		TOR		DTE	₽1 P1	NON)		D	۲				
000000020 000000040 000000080 000000080 00000000	SD: RD: SD: RD: SD: RD: SD: RD: SD: RD: SD: RD: SD: RD: SD: RD: SD: RD:	F B A 5 5 5 5 00	8 0 A A A A A 01	Cr 5 A A A A 02	If B 5 5 5 5 5	ID 04 E 5 5 5 5 5 04	Cr A A A A A OS	If A A A A A A OS	1 ID 03 5 5 5 5 5 07 (0	0 5 5 5 5 5 5	1 0 A A A A 09 0	0 1 A A A A A DA C	0 5 5 5 5 8 0 8 0	1 (1 (5 / 5 / 5 / 5 / 5 / 5 /	3 0 0 0 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 0 0	0 5 5 5 5 5	1 0 5 5 5 5 5 5 10	3 0 A A A A A 11	D 7 A A A A A 12	8 D 5 5 5 5 5 13	cr 0 5 5 5 5 5 14 1	1f 2 A A A A 5 1	: 7 c A A A A 6 17	0 1 r 11 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 7 18	1 (f II 0 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4	0 1 0 1 : 1 : A A A A A A A A A A A	0 5 5 5 5 5 5 1B	3 1 5 5 5 5 5 10	C O A A A A A ID	D A A A A A A 1E 1	6 F 5 5 5 5 1 F	× N		eed) :) :) :) :) :) :) :) :	500bp 2400b 2400b 3800b 3840b 38400b 3840b	ps ps ps ps ps bps bps bps bps bps bps b			Signal Line Status SD • RD • RS • CS • CD • CD • CI • Display Sv • CHR. HEX.	25 5 V.		\ Cli	ick (this	on ite	эn
ON ON Put the c	Erro Si O O	or top ON OFF	: the		em Mod) FI) R	ory de X ING			ata	bits bits	s s	di:	arit	y i en dd one	he r	Sto O	1bit 2bi	its ts	for	Por Por Por	t Se t1 (C t2 (C	etup DTE) DCE)) Den.	col	M7 M8	~ ~ Shi] [1] [1 f t	9200 9200	De Obps Obps	tecti 8, N 8, N	ion 1, 2 1, 2		Re De	e c. f ebug ear	1ode gging	• N	en. DFF		ON						

The Protocol Analyzer is available when the status of the AKM-RSM-100 is the following.

Displaying Monitor Result	Displaying File Contents
Displaying Monitor Result	Displaying File Contents

How to Operate

■ Open the Monitor Result File

When AKM-RSM-100 is the following status, the Monitor Result File must be opened by the manual operation first.

No Data and Disconnected No Data and Connected

By clicking on [File]-[Open] of Menu bar, open the Monitor Result File to be displayed. After that, start the Protocol Analyzer.

Specify Option Setting

First, specify various Option items of the Protocol Analyzer. Click on [Options]-[Options] of Menu bar of the Protocol Analyzer. In this operation, [Options] screen will be displayed.

Close Options screen by clicking on OK button after all designation is completed.

(1) Server Option

Specify about the Server Address here.

🔯 Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII - Options
Server Prefix Others
Options about Server Address
Server Address Range: 0 ~ 247
Server Address 0 is handled as Broadcast
Default OK Cancel

[Server Address Range]: (Default: 0-247)

Specify the range of Server Address which is being used in your system. Maximum number of server is 255.

[Server Address 0 is handled as Broadcast]: (Default: Checked)

Check it when the Server Address 0 is the Broadcast.

The Function [Request] of the Broadcast is processed as the communications of No Response. If the Server Address 0 is handled in the same way as other Server, remove this check.

(2) Prefix Option

Specify about the Data Model here.

uons about the Data	Houer	
Address Expression:	Hexadecimal Numb	er 🔿 Decimal Number
Prefix to give to the	Coil Address of the Decim	nal Number:
Prefix to give to the	Discrete Input Address of	f the Decimal Number: 1
Prefix to give to the	Input Register Address o	f the Decimal Number: 3
Prefix to give to the	Holding Register Address	of the Decimal Number:

[Address Expression]: (Default: Hexadecimal Number)

Specify the expression of each following Address which is used in the Analysis Result File.

- (a) Coil Address
- (b) Discrete Input Address
- (c) Input Register Address
- (d) Holding Register Address

[Prefix to give to the Coil Address of the Decimal Number]: (Default: "" No Prefix)

Specify Prefix which is added to the head of Coil Address when the Coil Address is outputted by the Decimal Number.

No Prefix or the Decimal Number "0" to "9" is available.

[Prefix to give to the Discrete Input Address of the Decimal Number]: (Default: "1")

Specify Prefix which is added to the head of Discrete Input Address when the Discrete Input Address is outputted by the Decimal Number.

No Prefix or the Decimal Number "0" to "9" is available.

[Prefix to give to the Input Register Address of the Decimal Number]: (Default: "3") Specify Prefix which is added to the head of Input Register Address when the Input Register Address is outputted by the Decimal Number. No Prefix or the Decimal Number "0" to "9" is available.

[Prefix to give to the Holding Register Address of the Decimal Number]: (Default: "4") Specify Prefix which is added to the head of Holding Register Address when the Holding Register Address is outputted by the Decimal Number. No Prefix or the Decimal Number "0" to "9" is available.

*Note: Each Address exists from 1 to 65536 in the decimal number. When Prefix is given, it is expressed from P0001 to P65536 (P: Prefix).

Example) When the Prefix is "3": from 30001 to 365536

(3) Others Option

Specify about the Other Setting here.

Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII - Options	×
Server Prefix Others	
Other Setting	
Analysis Level: Detailed Analysis Outline Analysis 	-
Encoding Type: UTF-8 V	
1	
Default OK Cancel	

[Analysis Level]: (Default: Detailed Analysis)

Specify the Analysis Level.

[Detailed Analysis] : All data will be analyzed in detail.

[Outline Analysis] : Only the Server Address and the Function Number (and Sub-Function Number and MEI Type) will be analyzed.

[Encoding Type]: (Default: UTF-8) Specify encoding type of the Analysis Result File.

(4) [Default] Button

By clicking on this button, all Option setting is returned to the Default Setting.

🔯 Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII - Options	\times
Server Prefix Others	
Options about Server Address	
Server Address Range: 0 ~ 247	_
Server Address 0 is handled as Broadcast	
	_
Default OK Cance	

*Note: After this button was clicked, the changes are applied by clicking on the [OK].

Execute the Protocol Analyzer

After setting up various Options, set up the screen of the Protocol Analyzer. After that, execute the Protocol Analyzer.

🔯 Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII — 🗌 🗙	
<u>File</u> <u>Options</u> <u>H</u> elp	(a)
Analysis Data Range Start Position (Event Number): From the Top Event From the Top Event To the Bottom Event	(b)
 Direction Detection Method Automatic Detection Manual Setting 	(c)
Analysis Target Servers All Servers 0-247	(d)
Output File Name	
Outline of Analysis Conditions:	
Execution Close	

(a) [Analysis Data Range]:

[Start Position]: (Default: From the Top Event)

Specify the Start Event Number of Monitor Result data which is analyzed. Specify it from three kinds of the following.

- · [From the Top Event]
- [From the Current Cursor]

· [Manual Setting] (Input Event Number by manual operation.)

[End Position]: (Default: To the Bottom Event)

Specify the End Event Number of Monitor Result data which is analyzed.

Specify it from three kinds of the following.

- · [To the Bottom Event]
- · [To the Current Cursor]
- · [Manual Setting] (Input Event Number by manual operation.)

(b) [Direction Detection Method]: (Default: Automatic Detection)

Specify the detection method about the communications direction.

The Automatic Detection will find the Client Side port and the Server Side port automatically at the top process of the analysis execution by using the delivered Monitor Result Data.

Specify Client Side port and Server Side port by using manual operation when Client Side port and Server Side port can't find it by the Automatic Detection.

By specifying the Manual Setting, Communications Direction setting screen of the following figure will appear. Specify the Communications Direction here by the manual operation.

Direction Detection Method	- Communications	Direction	
O Automatic Detection	Client Side:	Port1 ~	
Manual Setting	Server Side:	Port2 ~	

In addition, the Client Side port is port which transmits Function (request) of Modbus And, the Server Side port is the port which transmits response by Function (request) from the Client Side.

(c) [Analysis Target Servers]: (Default: All Servers 0-247)

Specify the server addresses to analyze.

- : [All Servers] : [Server Address Range] which was specified in the [Option] setting.
- : [Choose Server] : The Server Address of the analysis object can do selection in the

[Server Address Range] which was specified in the Option setting. When [Choose Server] is specified, the following [Setting of Analysis Object Server Address] screen is displayed.

Give a check to the Server of the analysis object in this screen. Then, click on [OK] button.

🔯 Setting of Analysis Object Server Address 🛛 🛛 🗙					
Select All	Release All	Address (Decimal number):			
0x0X (0x00 - 0x0F): 0x1X (0x10 - 0x1F): 0x2X (0x20 - 0x2F): 0x3X (0x30 - 0x3F): 0x4X (0x40 - 0x4F): 0x5X (0x50 - 0x5F): 0x6X (0x60 - 0x6F): 0x7X (0x70 - 0x7F): 0x8X (0x80 - 0x8F): 0x8X (0x80 - 0x8F): 0x8X (0x40 - 0x4F): 0x8X (0x40 - 0x4F): 0x8X (0x40 - 0x4F): 0x8X (0x00 - 0x2F): 0x0X (0x00 - 0x0F): 0x0X (0x0	+1 +2 +3 Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y	+4 +5 +6 +7 +8 +9 +4 +8 +C +0 ////////////////////////////////////	<pre>C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C + C C C C</pre>		
0xFX (0xF0 - 0xFF):					
		ОК	Cancel		

(d) [Output File Name]: (Default: "" (Null))

Specify the Path and File Name of Analysis Result File. Click on [Text Box] or [...] button. Then, specify Drive, Folder, and File Name.

*Note: The direct input to the [Text Box] can't be done.

After [Output File Name] is specified, [Execute] button will be changed to active.



By clicking on Execute button, the analysis will be started.

Progress is displayed during analysis by the following Progress Bar. Wait until the analysis is completed.

6	Outline of Analysis Conditions:	
	[Various Setting Condition at the Analysis Start] Server Address Range: 0-247 (Server Address 0 is handled Address Expression : Hexadecimal Number Analysis Level : Detailed Analysis	
	Communications data are being analyzed.	v
	< >	

The analysis can be aborted during analysis processing by clicking on Cancel button.

Other Function

*Caution: When OS is Windows XP, character corruption will occur in this function. This function shouldn't be used with Windows XP.

The Protocol Analyzer copes with both of Japanese and English. At first, the Protocol Analyzer is started in the language which is the same as the language of the AKM-RSM.

Then, the Analysis Result File is made in the language which is the same as the display language.

However, the display language of the Protocol Analyzer can be changed in the [Option] menu. This function is useful when an analysis result file is provided to the Japanese technician.

🔯 Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII	- 🗆 ×
Eile Options Help Options Options Image: Step in the state of t	By clicking on this menu Changed to Japanese edition
Direction Detection Method Communi Automatic Detection Client S Manual Setting Server Analysis Target Servers All Servers V 0-247	 図 プロトコル アナライザー for Modbus ASCII – × ファイル(E) オブション(Q) ヘルブ(H) 分析するデータの範囲 分析開始位置 (イベント番号): 先頭のイベントから ✓ 分析終了位置 (イベント番号): 最後のイベントまで ✓
Output File Name	通信方向の検出方法 ● 自動識別 ○ 手動設定
Outline of Analysis Conditions:	分析対象サーバー 全てのサーバー ∨ 0-247 出力ファイル名
	分析状況 概要:
	分析実行 閉じる

*Note: After it is changed to Japanese edition, it is returned to English edition by the same operation.

Shutdown method

Shut the Protocol Analyzer down in either next method.

Method 1: Click on [Close] of the lower right part Method 2: Click on [File]-[Exit] of Menu bar Method 3: Click on [×] of Title bar

Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII	—	
File Options Help Exit nge		
Start Position (Event Number): From the Top Event End Position (Event Number): To the Bottom Event	~	
Direction Detection Method Automatic Detection Manual Setting 		
Analysis Target Servers All Servers 0-247		
Output File Name		
Outline of Analysis Conditions:		Â
<		 >
Execut		Close

About the contents of the Analysis Result File

The Analysis Result File is made by **Text File.**

The system image in the file is the following.

There is the Client in the Left hand. And, there is the Server in the Right hand.

The following is the example of the Analysis Result File of the Function 07.

Serial Port Monitor and Analyzer (Model: AKM-RSM-100) Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII (Ver.x.x.x.x) [based on 1.1b3] (Dic. Rev. xxxx/xx/xx)	
Source File Name: xxxxxxxxxxx.mon	
[Various Setting Condition at the Analysis Start] Server Address Range: 0-247 (Server Address 0 is handled as Broadcast: Yes) Address Expression : Hexadecimal Number Analysis Level : Detailed Analysis	(a)
Analysis Target Server(s): 0-247	
Analysis Data Range : 0x00000000000-0x0000000019	
<pre>==== Analysis was started (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx) ===========================</pre>	(b)
Processing was completed normally.	
Analysis was completed (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx) ==============================	

The (a) is Header. This is the information which is useful when an Analysis Result File is referred to later.

The **(b)** is the Analysis Result. (This part may become enormous volume according to the volume of the Monitor Result data.)

About the Header

The configuration of the Header is the following.	(1)	(2)-1	(2)-2	(2)-3
Serial Port Monitor and Analyzer (Model: Ak Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII (Ver.x.> Source File Name: xxxxxxxxxx.mon	(M-RSM-100) x.x.x) [based -(3)	on 1.1b3] (Dic. Rev.	xxxx/xx/xx)	
[Various Setting Condition at the Analysi Server Address Range: 0-247 (Server Ad Address Expression : Hexadecimal Numbe Analysis Level : Detailed Analysis	is Start] ddress 0 is har er s	ndled as Broadcast: Ye	⁽⁵⁾ } (4)	
Analysis Target Server(s): 0-247 🗲	(5)			
Analysis Data Range : 0x000000000	000-0×00000000000000000000000000000000	1019 (6)		

(1)	: Parent Application Name of the Protocol Analyzer
(2)-1 (2)-2 (2)-3	 Name and Version of the Protocol Analyzer The Version of the Standard Protocol which the Protocol Analyzer is based on Revision date of Dictionary File for the Protocol Analyzer
(3)	: The Monitor Result File which is analysis object (When the analysis object was Memory, it is outputted with [Memory].)
(4)	: [Option] setting conditions when the Protocol Analyzer was executed
(5)	: [Analysis Target Servers] when the Protocol Analyzer was executed
(6)	: [Analysis Data Range] when the Protocol Analyzer was executed

This information is useful when an analysis result is referred to later. The conditions when an analysis was executed are definite by referring to this information.

About the Analysis Result

(1) Outline of the Analysis Result File Format

<pre>==== Analysis was started (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx) ==============================</pre>	
<pre>< [Normal] [Response] (0x0000000000F) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx) :10076D7C<cr><1f> One Protocol Data String (Character String) Server Address: 16 (0x10), Function Number: 7 (0x07) Function Name : Read Exception Status Output Data: OFF ON ON OFF ON ON OFF ON (109 (0x6D)) (Request Event Number: 0x00000000003) </cr></pre>	Analysis
Processing was completed normally. Analysis Processing Result	

The [Request] from the Client is surrounded by the arrow (----->). And, the [Response] from the Server is surrounded by the arrow (<-----).

Following information is outputted in the first line of the [Request] and the [Response].

	[Analysis Result]	[Request]	(Head Event Number) (Time Stamp)>
<	[Analysis Result]	[Response]	(Head Event Number) (Time Stamp)

Analysis Result:

Normal	Data String is Normal. And there is no contradiction in the contents of Data String also.
Emeral	Data String is Normal. However, there is contradiction in the contents of the Data String.
Error	The Data String which couldn't be analyzed.
Alert	[Request] was transmitted from Client to Server though there was a [Request] that [Response] hadn't been returned yet. *Note: Alert isn't outputted in the case shown below. · Function which [Response] doesn't exist in. (Ex. Function 8 (Sub. 4)) · When a Server Address 0 is handled as a Broadcast.
	Server transmitted [Response] though there was no [Request] from Client.
	[Response] of Server is different from the Client's [Request] Function.
Exception	Data String is Normal. And, normal Exception as the Protocol was returned. *Note: Exception occurs only in the [Response].

Head Event Number:

It is the Head Event Number (Hexadecimal Number) of this Protocol Data String.

Time Stamp:

It is the Time Stamp of this Protocol Data String. *Note: When a Time Stamp isn't included in the Monitor Result data, "????/????????????" will be outputted.

(2) Example of the Analysis Result of [Error!]

The Analysis Result is outputted as follows when the Data String is Normal and there is contradiction in the contents of the Data String.



This is the example that the Client is trying to read two Coils from the Coil Address 65536.

The Data String which can't be analyzed is outputted as follows.

The Function 8 (Sub-Function 19) is reserved function.

The following will be outputted as the Cause.

Un-available character is included in the ADU
Number of byte of PDU is the Odd Number
Illegal Header or Footer
Un-supported Function
Abnormal condition about the Data Length
Unforeseen Error

In addition, the Data String is outputted simply as follows when the length of the Data String which can't be analyzed is longer than the length of the maximum ADU length (513 bytes).

---- [Error!] [Obscurity] (0x00000000FC) (xxx/xx/xx xx:xx) 3A-30-31-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-31-46-44-3A-30-31-30-31-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-31-46-44-3A-30-(827 Bytes) -3A-30-31-30-31-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-31-46-44-3A-30-31-30-31-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-30-31-46-44-0D-0A *** Data string which couldn't be analyzed (Cause: xxxxxxx) *** Error Message

*Note: About various Error Messages, refer to the Appendix A: Message List for Analysis Result File.

(3) Example of the Analysis Result of [Alert]

The Analysis Result is outputted as follows when [Request] was transmitted from Client to Server though there was a [Request] that [Response] hadn't been returned yet.



The Analysis Result is outputted as follows when Server transmitted [Response] though there was no [Request] from Client.

[Alert] [Request] *** The Client hasn't transmitted the Request about the next Response. *** < [Normal] [Response] (0x0000000001E) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)> :010103CD6B05BE <cr><1f></cr>	— Alert Message
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 1 (0x01) Function Name : Read Coils	
Byte Count: 3 (0x03) Status : Following ????+0:0N, ????+1:0FF, ????+2:0N, ????+3:0N, ????+4:0FF, ????+5:0FF, ????+6:0N ????+8:0N, ????+9:0N, ???+10:0FF, ???+11:0N, ???+12:0FF, ???+13:0N, ???+14:0N ???+16:0N, ???+17:0FF, ???+18:0N, ???+19:0FF, ???+20:0FF, ???+21:0FF, ???+22:0FF <	Alert Object ????+7:0N , ???+15:0FF, ???+23:0FF

In this example, because there is no [Request], the Coil Address is unknown.

The Analysis Result is outputted as follows when [Response] of Server is different from the Client's [Request] Function.



In this example, Server sent the response of Function 2 as the response of Function 1 which Client required.

(4) Example of the Analysis Result of [Exception]

[Exception] will be outputted as follows in each Exception Code.

Exception Code	Output Message
01	ILLEGAL FUNCTION
02	ILLEGAL DATA ADDRESS
03	ILLEGAL DATA VALUE
04	SERVER DEVICE FAILURE
05	ACKNOWLEDGE
06	SERVER DEVICE BUSY
08	MEMORY PARITY ERROR
0A	GATEWAY PATH UNAVAILABLE
0B	GATEWAY TARGET DEVICE FAILED TO RESPOND

*Note: In the case of the Exception Code except for the above table, it will be outputted as the "(UNKNOWN EXCEPTION)".

Appendix A: Message List for Analysis Result File

Error Message

Function	Function Direction Error Message			
01	Description	The Starting Address or the Quantity of Coils is wrong.		
	Request	The number of the read of Coil is over range.		
	Response	There is contradiction in the number of Coil between Request and Response.		
02	Desurat	The Starting Address or the Quantity of Coils is wrong.		
	Request	The number of the read of Discrete Input is over range.		
	Response	There is contradiction in the number of Discrete Input between Request and Response.		
03	Desurat	The Starting Address or the Quantity of Coils is wrong.		
	Request	The number of the read of Holding Register is over range.		
	Deenenee	Illegal Byte Count. (Odd number)		
	Response	There is contradiction in the number of Holding Register between Request and Response.		
04	Desurat	The Starting Address or the Quantity of Coils is wrong.		
	Request	The number of the read of Input Register is over range.		
	Response	Illegal Byte Count. (Odd number)		
		There is contradiction in the number of Input Register between Request and Response.		
05	Request	Illegal Output Value.		
	Response	The written Address is different from the Address of Request.		
		Illegal Output Value.		
06	Response	The written Address is different from the Address of Request.		
08-00	Response	Response Data are different from the Request Data.		
08-01	Response	Illegal Process Type.		
08-02	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
	Request	Illegal Value of Data (Second Byte).		
08-03	Response	Response Delimiter data are different from the Request Delimiter data.		
00 05		Illegal Value of Data (Second Byte).		
08-04	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-10	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-11	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-12	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-13	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-14	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-15	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-16	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
08-17	08-17 Request Illegal Value of Data.			
08-18	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
00.20	Request	Illegal Value of Data.		
00-20	Response	Illegal Value of Data.		

Function	on Direction Error Message		
12		Illegal Data Length of the Protocol Data.	
	Response	Illegal Byte Count.	
		There is contradiction between Quantity of Coils and Byte Count.	
15	Request	The Starting Address or the Quantity of Coils is wrong.	
		The number of the write of Coil is over range.	
	Response	The written Address is different from the Address of Request.	
		The written Quantity of Coils is different from the Quantity of Coils of Request.	
		The Starting Address or the Quantity of Registers is wrong.	
	Request	Illegal Byte Count. (Odd number)	
16		There is contradiction between Quantity of Registers and Byte Count.	
	Deenenee	The written Address is different from the Address of Request.	
	Response	The written Quantity of Registers is different from the Quantity of Registers of Request.	
		Illegal Byte Count.	
		Illegal Byte Count.	
	Doquost	Illegal File Number (0). (Group x)	
	Request	The number of the read of Record is over range. (Group x)	
20		The Starting Record Number is over range. (Group x)	
20		Illegal Reference Type. (Group x)	
		There will be the Group of abnormal Byte Count. (Lack of the communications data)	
	Response	There is contradiction in the number of Record between Request and Response. (Group x)	
		Illegal Byte Count. (Even number) (Group x)	
		Illegal Reference Type. (Group x)	
	Descuert	There will be the Group of abnormal Byte Count. (Lack of the communications data)	
		Illegal Byte Count. (Even number)	
		The number of the write of Record is over range. (Group x)	
	Request	The Starting Record Number is over range. (Group x)	
		Illegal File Number (0). (Group x)	
		Illegal Reference Type. (Group x)	
		There will be the Group of abnormal Byte Count. (Lack of the communications data)	
21		The written Record Data is different from the Record Data of Request. (Group x)	
21		The written Address is different from the Address of Request. (Group x)	
		The written Starting Record Number is different from the Request. (Group x)	
	_	The written File Number is different from the File Number of Request. (Group x)	
	Response	Illegal Byte Count. (Even number)	
		The number of the write of Record is over range. (Group x)	
		The Starting Record Number is over range. (Group x)	
		Illegal File Number (0). (Group x)	
		Illegal Reference Type. (Group x)	
		T The OR Mask is different from the OR Mask of Request.	
22	Response	The AND Mask is different from the AND Mask of Request.	
		The Reference Address is different from the Reference Address of Request.	

Function	Direction	Error Message
23	Request	Illegal Byte Count.
		The number of the write of Register is over range.
		The number of the read of Register is over range.
		The number of the write of Register is over range.
		The number of the read of Register is over range.
	Response	There is contradiction in the Quantity to Read between Request and Response.
		Illegal Byte Count. (Odd number)
24	Response	Illegal Data Length of the Protocol Data.
		Illegal Byte Count. (Un-match FIFO Count)
		Illegal Byte Count. (Odd number)
	Request	Illegal Read Device ID Code.
	Response	Illegal Data Length of the Protocol Data.
42.14		Illegal Next Object ID.
43-14		Illegal More Follows data.
		Illegal Conformity Level.
		Illegal Read Device ID Code.

Common	The Data Length of this Protocol Data is longer than PDU of the Standard Specification.
Common	Illegal LRC value.

Exception Response In the Standard Specification, this Exception isn't supposed to occur in this Function.
--

■ Alert Message

Direction	Alert Message	
Request	The Server x (0xXX) hasn't returned response about the Last Request from the Client.	
Decreases	The Client hasn't transmitted the Request about the next Response.	
Response	The Client requested Function x in the Event Number 0xXXXXXXXXXXXXX.	

Appendix B: Example of Analysis Result in each Function

Function 1

[Normal] [Request] (0x00000000001) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)> :0104FFFD0003FC <cr><lf></lf></cr>
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 4 (0x04) Function Name : Read Input Registers
Starting Address: 0xFFFE, Quantity of Coils: 3 (0x0003)
<pre>< [Normal] [Response] (0x00000000013) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx) :010406123456789ABC8B<cr><1f> Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 4 (0x04) Function Name : Read Input Registers</cr></pre>
Byte Count : 6 (0x06) Register Value: Following 0xFFFE: 4660 (0x1234), 0xFFFF: 22136 (0x5678), 0x10000: 39612 (0x9ABC) (Request Event Number: 0x00000000001) <

Function 6

Function 8-1

Function 8-2

Function 8-4

```
---- [Normal] [Request] (0x000000000B4) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx) ------>
:010800040000F3<cr>(f>
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 8-4 (0x08-0x0004)
Function Name : Diagnostics - Force Listen Only Mode
Data: 0 (0x0000)
```

*Note: There is no Response in the Function 8-4.

Function 8-10

[Normal] [Request] (0x00000000000000000000000000000000000	·xx)>		
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 8-11 (0x08-0x000 Function Name : Diagnostics - Return Bus Message Count)B)		
Data: 0 (0x0000)	>		
< [Normal] [Response] (0x000000000FB) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)			
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 8-11 (0x08-0x000B) Function Name : Diagnostics - Return Bus Message Count			
Total Message Count: 8240 (0x2030)	(Request Event Number: 0x0000000000E9)		
<			

Function 8-12

[Normal] [Request] (0x00000000010D) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)>:0108000C0000EB <cr><1f></cr>			
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 8-12 (0x08-0x000C) Function Name : Diagnostics - Return Bus Communication Error Count			
Data: 0 (0x0000)			
< [Normal] [Response] (0x0000000011F) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:xx)			
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 8-12 (0x08-0x000C) Function Name : Diagnostics - Return Bus Communication Error Count			
CRC Error Count: 12352 (0x3040) (Request Event Number: 0x0000000010D)			

Function 8-13

[Normal] [Request] (0x00000000131) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx:x :0108000D0000EA <cr><lf></lf></cr>	x)>	
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 8-13 (0x08-0x000D Function Name : Diagnostics - Return Bus Exception Error Cou	i) int	
Data: 0 (0x0000)		
<pre>< [Normal] [Response] (0x00000000143) (xxxx/xx/xx xx:xx: .01080000005554</pre>	××)>	
	х.	
Server Address: 1 (0x01), Function Number: 8-13 (0x08-0x000D) Function Name : Diagnostics - Return Bus Exception Error Count		
Exception Error Count: 16464 (0x4050)	(Request Event Number: 0x00000000131)	
<		

Function 8-15

Function 8-16

Function 8-18

Function 8-20

Function 12

Function 16

Function 21

Function 23

Function 24

Function 43-13

Function 43-14

Serial Port Monitor and Analyzer Series Protocol Analyzer for Modbus ASCII (Model: AKM-RSM-FM0) User's Manual November, 2016 Version 0.3.0.0 December, 2016 Version 0.4.0.0 January, 2017 Version 1.0.0.0 July, 2019 Version 1.1.0.0 November, 2019 Version 1.1.1.0 February, 2022 Version 1.2.0.0 July, 2023 Version 1.3.0.0

Caution:

- (1) You must not reprint all (or a part) of the contents of this manual without getting the permission of Akiyama Manufacturing.
- (2) The contents of this manual may be changed in the future without a notice.